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Tuesday, January 8, 2008

--- On commencing at 1:10 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting this afternoon in connection with a settlement agreement in this matter filed by Union Gas Limited on January 3rd.  This agreement relates to an application that Union filed on November 11, 2007 under section 36 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, at which time it was seeking an order from the Board fixing or approving multi-year incentive rate mechanisms for the distribution, transmission and storage of natural gas effective January 1st, 2008.


May we have the appearances, please?

Appearances:

MR. MILLAR:  Michael Millar, Mr. Chair, for Board Staff.  With me is Mr. Richard Battista and Mr. Vincent Cooney.  I would like to apologize for not being in a jacket today.  I simply forgot it at home.  It's not meant to show any disrespect to the Board.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  Michael Penny, Mr. Chair, counsel for Union Gas, one of the applicants in this matter -- I guess applicant in this matter.


MR. KAISER:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman.  Jay Shepherd from School Energy Coalition.  With me is my colleague, Mikaela Cameron.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. ALEXANDER:  Basil Alexander, counsel for Pollution Probe.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  The late Robert Warren, counsel for the Consumers’ Council of Canada.


MS. EFFENDI:  Nadia Effendi, Panel Members, for the Industrial Gas Users Association.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chair.  Richard Stephenson, counsel for the Power Workers' Union.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stephenson.


MS. LANDYMORE:  Heather Landymore for TransAlta Energy Corporation, TransAlta Cogeneration LP and Coral Energy Canada Inc.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Landymore.


MS. YOUNG:  Valerie Young for the Ontario Association of Physical Plant Administrators.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken for the London Property Management Association, the Wholesale Gas Service Purchasers Group, and the Building Owners and Managers Association for the Greater Toronto Area.  


I've also been asked by Mr. Gruenbauer to register an appearance on behalf of the City of Kitchener.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. SCULLY:  Peter Scully on behalf of the City of Timmins.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Scully.


MR. MORAN:  Pat Moran on behalf of the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Moran.


MR. STACEY:  Jason Stacey.  I'm an intervenor, and also representing Sithe Global Power Goreway.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stacey.


MS. NEWLAND:  Good afternoon.  Helen Newland on behalf of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  With me is Mr. Patrick Hoey, H-O-E-Y.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, do you have any procedural matters?


MR. MILLAR:  No, I was going to hand things over to Mr. Penny.  Mr. Chairman, as you're aware, of course, the settlement agreement was filed last week.  There were some discussions this morning relating to -- why don't I just turn it over to Mr. Penny so he can explain what was discussed this morning?


MR. KAISER:  Before you do that, Mr. Sommerville reminds me.  What's the situation with respect to GEC and Mr. Poch?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Poch and GEC are not here today.  Actually, I shouldn't say that.  Is there a particular issue you would like addressed?  They are not here.  I don't know if they are listening in or not.  I haven't heard from Mr. Poch.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think just from the standpoint of an appearance, I think Mr. Poch's letter should serve as an appearance.  I think he indicated that he would not be attending personally and we should note --


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  I apologize.  I forgot that, Mr. Sommerville.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Penny.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

PRESENTATION OF SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL BY MR. PENNY:


MR. PENNY:  Well, the scheduled day was, of course, for presentation of the settlement agreement.  But I thought, because we kept you cooling your heels this morning, for which we thank you, because the time was used, I think, quite profitably, I thought I would explain what we were doing this morning and explain the agreement that we reached in connection with those matters to begin, and then turn to the settlement agreement itself, rather than the other way around.


We spent the morning discussing two things.  The first was the issue of evidence and a hearing process around what I'll call the tax change issue.  That's one of the two unsettled issues in the settlement -- one of the three unsettled issues in the settlement agreement.  And we also spent a good deal of time this morning talking about the timing of the implementation of the settlement agreement itself; in other words, those settled issues that are contained within the settlement agreement.  


And we have an agreement on these issues, and I'm in a position to describe that settlement, although, of course, we've agreed that it will be documented and we will file that document, presumably in a few days, once it's been reduced to writing.


But the settlement is as follows.


If the Board accepts the settlement agreement, Union will implement the effect of the settlement agreement as soon as reasonably possible, with the expectation that new rates based on the settlement agreement would be implemented in the April 1, 2008 QRAM, or at the time of the April 1, 2008 QRAM.


The contested issues will proceed to hearing with a special schedule to deal with the tax change issue.  In the interim, pending resolution of the tax change issue and on a without-prejudice basis for all parties, parties have agreed that interim rates will be adjusted to incorporate the 2008 effect of recent tax changes - that is, the 2008 effect of what I've called the tax change issue - and that the actual amount of the tax change -- of the tax changes for 2008 will be tracked in a deferral account.


This is an agreement, I should say, in principle, in that -- to this extent, that the actual amount of that adjustment is still being tracked down.  The parties are confident we'll agree, but it just required more time than we had in the morning to actually track down the numbers.  But they are thought to be in the range of between $6- and $8 million.  I appreciate you will, of course, want to have that number before finalizing this aspect of the settlement.


And I wanted to, again, emphasize that this is a without-prejudice interim adjustment pending the Board's disposition of the tax change issue.  If Union's position that the tax changes are reflected and the inflation factor prevails, Union will be entitled to recover the amount of the interim adjustment through the deferral account process.


If the intervenor position prevails, then, subject to any true-up, because we're not -- because we'll track actual numbers rather than the interim number, but any amount would not flow through as an adjustment, but rates would remain roughly the same.


I should say that the Schools Energy Coalition has reserved the right to argue at the hearing of this issue - in other words, at the ultimate hearing that we have on the tax change issue - that even if Union's position is confirmed by the Board, it should not necessarily be entitled to recover the taxes back to June 1, 2008 based on what they perceive are delays in the resolution of this issue attributable to Union.


Union does not, of course, accept this allegation, but does accept that SEC wishes to reserve its right to make that argument if it so choose at the time.


MR. KAISER:  What's your position, Mr. Shepherd, assuming you're successful?  When would it take effect?


MR. SHEPHERD:  If we are successful, of course, then there is no recovery of the taxes.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If we are not successful, then we have reserved the right to argue that at least some part of this delay is the fault of the utility, and, therefore, to that extent, the utility should not be entitled to recover any tax shortfall for that period of time.


MR. KAISER:  You haven't defined that period, or have you?


MR. SHEPHERD:  We don't know yet what the delay impact will be.


MR. KAISER:  I'm sorry --


MR. SHEPHERD:  But I should also add, Mr. Chairman, I'm sorry, and maybe my friend will come to this, that proceeding with the settlement agreement today is also conditional on a process being put in place to consider the new evidence and responding evidence, which I assume you're getting to.


MR. PENNY:  I'm about to turn to that.


MR. MILLAR:  And, Mr. Chair, I'm sorry to interrupt, as well.  Mr. Penny, I believe, said June 1st is the implementation date?


MR. PENNY:  If I said that, I misspoke.  I thought I said April.

MR. MILLAR:  I think the date is January, is it not, for the potential implementation of the tax -- 


MR. PENNY:  Sorry, on that one, yes.

MR. MILLAR: So it's January, not June?

MR. PENNY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Why don't you start over on that.

MR. PENNY:  What I'm being told is I misspoke when I was talking about the without-prejudice nature of this interim adjustment, and that the -- subject to the point that Mr. Shepherd has reserved on the implementation, or the effective date would be January 1, 2008.

The proposed schedule, then -- again, sticking just with the tax change issue, the proposed schedule for the hearing of the tax change issue, which intervenors have proposed and which Union accepts, and I say parenthetically without prejudice to its position on the potential SEC argument on these alleged delays, but leaving that aside, is as follows.

Now, I can -- why don't I just read these off, and we'll, as I say, document this, but:

January 25, 2008, Enbridge has until then to decide whether to file any further evidence on this issue.

By February 1, 2008, intervenors aim to have retained any experts that they wish, but in any event by February 15, 2008, intervenors will have submitted interrogatories to Union and potentially EGD.

By February 22, 2008, Union will file responses to interrogatories.

By March 7, 2008, intervenors will file any evidence that they propose to tender in connection with the tax change issue.

By March 18, 2008, Union and/or EGD will have filed their interrogatories of any such evidence.

And by March 25, 2008, the intervenor interrogatory responses will have been filed.  And -- oh, all right.  Let me -- I'll come back to one of those dates in a second.  Just let me finish the list.

And then April.  Our proposed date for the commencement of the hearing would be April 1, 2008, subject, of course, to Board Panel availability.

Now, may I have your indulgence for a moment.

MR. KAISER:  While Mr. Penny's doing that, have you checked the Panel availability for that date?

MR. MILLAR:  Not for all Panel Members.  There are some very significant proceedings starting in the middle of April.  You, Mr. Chair, in particular, are on one of them, the OPG hearing.  However, it looks like this probably works.  And I take it that days can be shifted, a hearing day can be moved one day or a few days either way.  But I think the important thing is it be done before the middle of April, and it looks like there's probably time in there.

MR. KAISER:  What are we looking at, a week?

MR. MILLAR:  I would think a week at the very most, perhaps less.  It's a single issue, although it's important and somewhat complicated, there's only so long you can probably talk about it.

MR. KAISER:  I guess we don't know the extent to which Enbridge is going to do weigh in on this.

MR. MILLAR:  We don't yet, but they're going to be advising us shortly.

MR. PENNY:  I said there was one date I would probably want to come back to.  I believe that after I wrote this down, that we had a further discussion, because Easter was earlier than the school breaks and so on, when I said 
March 7 for the filing of intervenor evidence, that that was -- oh, sorry.  That March 18 for the filing of Union and Enbridge's interrogatories was going to be changed to the 14th, I think.  Is that --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Should be the 14th, yes.

MR. PENNY:  The numbers should be the 14th for the filing of Union and any Enbridge interrogatories.

The other -- so that's the tax change issue.

The other contested issues, that is, the risk management point and the customer attachments - and I'll come back to those later when I'm discussing settlement agreement  will proceed as planned, with the hearing commencing January 17.

The issue, and I guess I should say, the issue of the timing of the implementation of any rate impacts that may arise from the Board's determination of those two issues, will be an open issue in that proceeding and parties will take whatever position they --

MR. KAISER:  On the January 17th?

MR. PENNY:  On the January 17th.  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. PENNY:  In that proceeding.

So that's what we did this morning.  That was the agreement that we reached on the settlement implementation.  The two, for reasons I won't go into, are connected, but the settlement agreement implementation and the tax change issue.

So, then, turning to the settlement proposal at large.  As the Board knows, the origins of this proceeding lie with the Natural Gas Forum report of March 2005, and in that report, the Board expressed a desire to move to a multi-year incentive regulation plan for the regulation of natural gas distribution utilities, commencing January 1, 2008.

As you've noted, Union filed an application seeking approval of a multi-year incentive regulation plan in May of 2007.  Union's evidence was filed in June, interrogatories were answered, and Union participated in a technical conference.  Intervenors filed evidence, and interrogatories were asked of those witnesses as well.

Then Union participated in a settlement conference from, I believe, December 6 to December 17, and a draft settlement agreement was prepared.  And on January 3rd of this year, all parties signed off on the language of that agreement.

The agreement is a comprehensive one, subject to three issues that were not settled, and they are described in the agreement.  The non-settled issues are:  Commodity risk management; the treatment of customer additions under incentive regulation; and, of course, the treatment of tax changes under the incentive regulation, as I've described previously.

The issue -- let me say briefly, the issue of commodity risk management, on that issue, those opposed to the continuation of Union's program have indicated that they do not need to cross-examine and that the issue can be dealt with by way of argument only.  Obviously, if the Board feels it's important to ask questions of the panel, we will make those witnesses available, but as things currently stand, it's not contemplated that any -- indeed, it's agreed, that no intervenor will be cross-examining those witnesses.

On the issue of customer attachments, GEC and Pollution Probe take the position that customer attachments should be either treated as a pass-through or that there be some other form of incentive for Union to continue to attach as many customers as possible.

All other parties, including Union, are opposed to that position.

And then, as I've said, there's the issue of tax changes and, essentially, the question of whether the inflation factor that's being agreed to, the GDPIPI FDD  price index or -- price index will capture those changes or not, and some intervenors take the position that they will not.  Union takes the position that they will be caught and that issue will be, of course, dealt with in the manner I've described, assuming that is acceptable to the Board.

I should say, though, that all parties agree that the agreement will remain valid regardless of the way these issues are resolved, so the agreement isn't contingent upon the resolution of either of those three issues.

In the NGF report, the Board established three criteria for incentive regulation.  It was to establish incentives for sustainable efficiency improvements that would benefit both customers and shareholders.  The second was to ensure appropriate quality of service for customers.  And the third was to create an environment that is conducive to investment, to the benefit of both customers and shareholders.

The Board went on to say that a rate-making framework that met these criteria will ensure that rates are just and reasonable.

And as the settlement agreement indicates, the parties supporting the agreement, which includes all of the representatives of Union's customers, are satisfied that the price cap model set out in the agreement meets these three objectives.  The price cap plan is expected to put downward pressure on Union's rates.  It is expected to provide regulatory stability that will enhance new investment, and the plan is expected to ensure that the benefits of new efficiencies will be shared with customers during term of the incentive regulation plan.

It was not my intention to go through, in any detail, each component of the price cap plan.  There is agreement, subject to the treatment of the tax change issue specifically, as a Z-factor, and customer additions as a 
Y factor on every component of the price cap index.

The inflation factor that is proposed and was agreed to is the historic average of the prior four quarters, being Q2 to Q2, of the change in the gross domestic product implicit price index filed domestic demand index maintained by Statistics Canada.  For 2008 that is already known, and it is 2.04 percent.

The GDPIPI FDB index is, by the way, not only agreed to by the parties, but the recommendation of Board Staff in its discussion paper of last year was for the adoption of that index.

Subject to the issue of tax changes, the criteria for Z-factor adjustments have been agreed to.  They're generally in keeping with the criteria that have been used by this Board before and consistent with other regulatory bodies' treatment of those criteria.  And, similarly, subject, again, to the customer attachment issue, the 
Y factors or pass-through items are all familiar to the Board, being, for the most part, commodity-related, and they are agreed to by all parties.

I should say a word about the component of the index that relates to the productivity or X factor that has been agreed to.  That number is 1.82 percent.  And while this number was not the precise recommendation of any particular witness or expert in this case, it does clearly fall within the range of productivity factors that were available -- that would have been available to the Board on the evidence, had the hearing proceeded.

The X factor is, I should say, as well, exclusive of declines in average use, which is dealt with as a separate stand-alone adjustment, which I'll speak of separately.

The decline in average use is a phenomenon resulting from the use of more efficient equipment and building techniques, high commodity prices, and things like that.  It is distinct from the effects of Union's DSM programs, which are separately monitored and accounted for.  And declining use creates a rate issue, because, all else equal, the same fixed costs must be recovered through a smaller ^throughput.

And the -- and what the parties agreed to on the issue of declining use was founded on the operative principle, being that Union should be made whole for the effects of declining use, but that neither Union nor customers should gain or lose on the declining use adjustment.

And it is for this reason that the parties agreed to use a three-year rolling historical average of declining use to set rates on an annual basis, but to establish a deferral account so that the recovery of Union's costs is trued up to actual declines in use, once the actual level is known.

On the subject of deferral accounts generally, I should say that we -- also in keeping with the Natural Gas Forum report, there is a net reduction in deferral accounts, so there was an effort made to reduce the reliance on deferral accounts.  I think four were eliminated and one came back.  So I think it's net three were eliminated, which is, I think, a positive thing in the right direction.  

And this deferral account, as I've said, was dictated by the principle that Union should be made whole; that neither customers nor Union should gain or lose on the average use adjustment, and it was thought that that was -- for the purposes of this incentive regulation plan, that that was the appropriate way to do that.

The term, of course, is for five years, which, again, finds ample support from Board Staff, the NGF report, and the evidence in this case.

There is a form of off-ramp in which a full review of the plan is triggered.  It's not an automatic off-ramp, but there is an automatic review under the proposal if Union's earnings fall outside a 300 basis-point dead band on a weather normalized basis.  So what that means is if that happened in a given year, that that would trigger a review of the plan, and presumably an exploration of the reasons for that and so on.

And parties are at liberty to -- under those circumstances, to take whatever position they wish, whether it would be a termination of the plan or a review of the components of the plan.

There is also, I should say, an earnings-sharing mechanism which has its adherents and detractors at a theoretical level, but was simply necessary to achieve a settlement of the other issues in this case.  And the mechanism agreed to was earnings that are greater than a 200 basis-point over the formula-based ROE in a given year are shared 50/50 with customers.

So the -- what I'll call the off-ramp, in quotes, review is triggered -- is a symmetrical trigger.  It's triggered by a 300 basis-point difference on either side of the otherwise normal earnings for that given year.  But the earnings-sharing mechanism is triggered only off a positive variance, not a negative variance, so it is not, in that respect, symmetrical.

There is in the agreement a good deal of detail around reporting, rate setting, and rebasing.  I don't propose to review those details unless there are specific questions about them.  And then, finally, the agreement does document for base-rate adjustments totalling, I believe, 8.8 million.  These are adjustments which tend to reduce or, in one case, not increase the base rates to which the price cap will apply for 2008.

And, again, those specific adjustments are explained in the agreement.  I think the justification for them is, I would frankly say, self-evident, but, again, if -- so I wasn't going to say anything more about them.  But if there are questions, I'd be happy to respond.

As usual, the agreement is a comprehensive agreement, and what that means is that if the Board does not accept the agreement in its entirety, there is no agreement unless the parties, with the benefit of additional consultations, decide otherwise.

And I think a comment on that issue is warranted.  The reason -- I've said this before, but the reason for the comprehensive nature of this settlement is, I think, fairly clear and well-understood.  But rate setting, of course, is a multi-faceted exercise with many inputs.  Settlements are also multi-faceted exercises with many competing priorities, interests, and objectives, and different parties agree to certain issues for different reasons than others.  And frequently a party may concede on one point because they receive a concession on another.  

Parties agree to specific items even though they are not particularly happy with that specific item, because they view the outcome as a whole or in its totality as -- and by that, I mean the end result -- is judged to be acceptable and fair, having regard to both the substantive outcome and the risks and uncertainties that are always associated with contested litigation.  

And it's for that reason that those compromises are made between the parties, and within parties' own realm of interest, that the agreement is comprehensive in that sense.

And so that's the overview.  I wasn't proposing to deal with anything else, but we are -- if the Board has questions, we are happy to speak to those as best we can.  And, of course, if any of my friends feel obliged to supplement what I've said - and I, again, say that it is, of course, not my -- my presentation is not comprehensive of every issue that's resolved in the agreement, but nor was with it intended to be.  But if my friends want to supplement what I've said, they're, of course, at liberty to do so.

MR. KAISER:  Do any of the parties have anything they wish to add to Mr. Penny's summary?  Mr. Stephenson?
Submissions by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  On behalf of my client, just very briefly, we certainly do not oppose in any respect the settlement agreement that has been presented to you.  However, on behalf of my client, I did want to indicate to you, from our perspective, the limitation, or certain aspects of the limitation associated with this.  

And, in particular, because this has come to you as a settlement as opposed to a fully litigated matter, in our view, there are certain limitations that the Board has to be mindful of in terms of understanding the import of the outcome and its significance with respect to any matter other than the setting of rates in respect of this particular applicant.

And, in particular, we noted when we came to this hearing that there was an intention, I think, on the part of the Board or an understanding on the part of the Board that it was likely that the outcome of this hearing had the potential to be precedent-setting, both with respect to the incentive regulation for natural gas utilities in this province and in respect of potential future incentive regulation in respect of electricity distribution utilities.

And indeed, we noted that, Mr. Kaiser, you made a speech back in November whereby you indicated that at that point in time, at least, that you thought that there was a very real prospect that this decision -- the decision in this matter could be a benchmark in respect of incentive regulation in the country, and essentially a template in respect, potentially, of electricity incentive regulation.

And so the comment that we wanted to -- or the view that we wanted to ensure that we made clear to the Board was that with respect to the key aspects of any incentive regulation is of course the methodology used to determine what the incentive will be.  And as you've heard from my friend Mr. Penny, there was an agreement with respect to what the incentive amount was, but, as you will also have heard from him, there was no agreement with respect to precisely how that number was arrived at, in terms of the methodology.

And so I think it's important for the Board to understand that in adopting, if it sees fit, this settlement, from our perspective it does not stand as a precedent or an endorsement in respect of any particular methodology vis-à-vis the determination of how an incentive in respect of a particular utility is to be arrived at.  Perhaps that's self-evident in the nature of the settlement document itself, but from our perspective it's important to ensure that, at least from our perspective, the Board understands that there is that limitation upon that, and there is only so much usefulness vis-à-vis the future value of this particular settlement in respect of incentive regulation generally, whether in the gas sector or in the electricity sector.

Those are my submissions.

And as I say, we certainly take no objection whatsoever to the outcome of it; we are satisfied that it has in this particular case resulted in just and reasonable rates, and so, for those reasons, we do not oppose the settlement.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Anyone else?
FURTHER PRESENTATION OF THE SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL 

BY MR. PENNY:


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, Mr. Shepherd reminded me that there was one -- this was one other matter that I might have said and should have said relating to the settlement, which is -- and that the settlement was explicitly contingent upon Union providing a rate impact schedule, and our obligation was to have provided that by yesterday, and we did, but in fairness to my friends, having just received it yesterday, I'm not sure they've had the opportunity to review it.  And the intention being that they were to -- the reservation of rights was that, when we actually turn the crank on the rate-setting, that it produces numbers that were reasonably similar to the numbers that were discussed during the context of our settlement conference.  We're satisfied they do, but in fairness, my friends have not, I think, probably had the opportunity to review that schedule in detail, and so it is probably the case that my friends will want to have done that.

MR. KAISER:  And what's the practical consequence to that?  Does that mean that we should not approve this settlement until that process has been concluded?

MR. PENNY:  Until that's done; I believe that's correct.

MR. KAISER:  Is that your wish then? 
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I received early afternoon yesterday 62 pages of spreadsheets which -- it's very thorough, but we haven't had a chance to review in detail yet.  And the term of the agreement is that the parties are satisfied that those rates and bill impacts are consistent with what we had understood during ADR.  And so we're going through that process but we aren't there yet.  So I think this settlement is conditional.

MR. KAISER:  And subject to your reviewing that document, until that time you're not consenting?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We're anticipating that when we do the review, we'll end up with the answer --

MR. KAISER:  No, I understand.  I'm just trying to figure out what we do today.  And I take it from what 
Mr. Penny said and I take it from what you just said is we should not be issuing a decision from the bench.  Is that right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think that's correct.

MR. KAISER:  Looks like everyone's nodding so I guess that's --

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think that's fair.

MR. KAISER:  And you have that document and I take it you'll be able to advise us shortly whether you're content with the results?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I'm actually, I think, going to rely on Mr. Aiken more than myself.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Aiken.  All right.  When do you think you'll complete your review, Mr. Aiken?  By the end of the week?

MR. AIKEN:  Hopefully sometime late tomorrow.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  By the end of the week in any event?  

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

[Board Panel confers]

MR. KAISER:  As I'm reminded by Ms. Chaplin, you'll advise us, of course, Mr. Aiken, if you have a problem or Mr. Shepherd or any of your colleagues have a problem no later than noon Friday?  Sufficient?

Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I mean, I think the position that the Board would need to be in is that the Board can act that the absence of complaint.  So I think if we can make it clear in that sense that if we don't hear a ringing bell by noon on Friday, the Board will presume that there is no concern about the impacts; that they are as they were anticipated to be; and the Board can therefore administratively approve the settlement agreement.  Is that fair?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's certainly fine with me.  I see other people nodding.

MR. KAISER:  And since we have some loose ends in any event, and since we might want to leave the decision so it's readable in one place, possibly you could file with the consent of your colleagues, your friends, the schedule we discussed so we have that on paper.

MR. PENNY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  And any amending amendment to this agreement giving effect to what you described today.

MR. PENNY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Again, just so we can put it as an appendix to the agreement so there's no dispute later --

MR. PENNY:  Yeah.

MR. KAISER:  -- reading the transcript.  Distribute that to the other parties, if you would, Mr. Penny?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  And make sure that we have that by noon Friday, those two documents.  Is that acceptable?

MR. PENNY:  Right.  That was our intention --


MR. KAISER:  Just so we have it all in one place, and then we'll try and issue something early in the following week that might be of assistance to other parties, floating around, such as Enbridge.

MR. MILLAR:  And of course, Mr. Chair, we would require formally a Procedural Order just to firm up those dates, but I think what you’re asking they just provide the final dates and we’ll bless that, presumably, and issue a PO.


Mr. Chair, I did have one comment that I was going to address to Mr. Penny if this is a good time.  I think it's a very minor point.  I raised it with him very briefly yesterday just to give him a heads-up.  And it relates to the reporting requirements.  I'm speaking in particular of page 24 of the settlement agreement, and there are a list of 18 items that the utility has agreed to provide on an annual basis.  But in our review we noted that there is no date certain for when those have to be filed.  And he and I had a quick discussion about this.  And I'm just wondering if he could comment on the record, I guess why there's not a date by which it has to be filed or when they expect they will be filed.

MR. PENNY:  Yes, I'm happy to address that, 
Mr. Chairman.

Although it's not spelled out explicitly, it is, I think, clear when you read on to deal -- to the timing of the earnings sharing calculation, that it's anticipated that these items that are listed will be provided as soon as reasonably possible after the year-end financial statements are made public.  So there isn't a date certain but it's an obligation to produce them as soon as reasonably possible after we have the audited financial statements.

MR. KAISER:  Any problem with that, Mr. Shepherd?  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  I had two questions, 
Mr. Penny.  One is actually on the reporting requirements at page 23.  The first sentence of the settlement says that:
"Union agrees to support making its RRR filings with the Board available to intervenors."

MR. PENNY:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I just want to ensure I understand that more precisely.  


Is Union agreeing to make those RRR filings public?

MR. PENNY:  The reason it's worded that way, Ms. Chaplin, is that it's actually a Board requirement that those be filed in confidence, and so we didn't feel it was our place to say that they would be filed publicly, but we are supportive of and are prepared to make those available on a public basis, provided -- and frankly, I think the reason for the Board -- I don't know of the entire history to this, but my suspicion is that the reason for the Board's confidentiality provision was probably at the request of the utilities, although I'm not sure that's so, because there were some Securities Act concerns, but we are satisfied that we can deal with those.  So as long as it's acceptable to the Board, we're prepared to do this.  

So it's worded that way because it's a Board requirement, and so we're saying that if the Board is amenable to that, we support the intervenors' request to have access to those files.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So the Board can conclude that you consent to that, and that's an expression of consent for the --

MR. PENNY:  Absolutely.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And then on the average use factor, and I don't know that you need to turn it up -- and I note from your comments earlier in your presentation that you distinguish the adjustment for the average use factor from the effects of the DSM programs, and I'm just hoping you can help me, explain how it is that those remain separate.

Is there some way that -- I guess what I am trying to understand is how, in calculating the LRAM, you make sure there's not double counting with what -- the adjustment for the average use.

MR. PENNY:  In general terms, the reason is because each DSM program has attached to it a whole raft of protocols and procedures, one of which is to track the effect of that program.  And so you know, if you introduce a furnace replacements program, how much bang for your buck, from a DSM point of view, you're getting from that.  You know that your assessment is done of free ridership and so on, and so you know what you're getting out of that and you know what the by-product of it is in terms of savings and in terms of dollars, reduced throughput in the LRAM situation.

And so where conceptually you're able -- because of that, you're able to say this bundle of programs, DSM programs, are monitored separately, evaluated separately, we know what's happening there.  So that means that everything else is attributable to declining use.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So when you're determining what the average use factor adjustment is going to be, you are removing the effects --

MR. PENNY:  Absolutely.

MS. CHAPLIN:  -- of the DSM programs?  It's not the other way around?

MR. PENNY:  No, that's right.  It's two separate assessments.  We back out any reduction from throughput based on DSM programs. 

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  That's all I have.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I have no questions.

MR. KAISER:  Anything else, gentlemen, ladies?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't want to let my friend, Mr. Stephenson's, comments go by with respect to the precedent value of this without commenting that, while it is indeed true that a particular methodology for the X factor was not approved in this agreement and the Board would not be approving one in approving the agreement, there are quite a number of methodological issues that were expressly determined in the agreement and the Board would be approving them if it approved the agreement.

Now, it's not necessarily -- as the Board is aware, we do not have stare decisis in this Board.  So the precedent value is persuasive, but, nonetheless, I don't think it would be fair to say, for example, that the use of ^GDPIPPI is completely ignored in this agreement.  It's decided in this agreement.  So I wanted to make that comment for the record.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, I actually have a question not on that issue, but -- am I correct in understanding that the subsequent agreement that Mr. Penny has described to us this afternoon about the new schedule and the implementation of the settlement agreement, all of that is now part -- like, in other words, the Board has to accept that if it's going to accept -- if the parties are going to retain their support of the sort of initial settlement agreement?  Is that -- or, in other words, your support for the settlement agreement is contingent upon the Board also accepting the subsequent things that have been agreed and described to us just this afternoon?  Is that true?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think the simple answer to that is yes, although I don't think we've actually -- certainly my clients haven't actually looked at it that way.  We've looked at it as this resolves our concerns about the tie between the two.  But if the Board were to say, We accept the main agreement but we don't accept the add-on, then I think my clients would have to make a decision whether they were still willing to be participants in the main agreement.  I don't know whether they would or not.  We'd have to assess that.

We're assuming that they go together.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So I'm interpreting that to mean that what has been presented to us this afternoon forms part of the agreement as a whole, and that is what we're now being asked to consider? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Other parties --

MS. CHAPLIN:  I am taking that from a comment you made early on in Mr. Penny's presentation.  I just wanted to ensure --

MR. PENNY:  That's certainly my view.  

MR. KAISER:  You will attach it as an -- 

MR. PENNY:  It's, in effect, an addendum.  I don't know that it actually amends anything that's already agreed, but it's an additional agreement which is -- which deals with some additional issues. 

MR. KAISER:  Now, just on that, that does leave aside the outstanding issue as to the implementation date, whether it's January 1st or something you choose to argue.  We don't have to decide that before we issue this decision?

MR. PENNY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  With respect to the taxes, yes.  I think we've agreed that with respect to everything else, the effective implementation date is January 1st.

MR. KAISER:  Right.  So that issue is not going to hold up issuing this decision next week?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Anything further, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Not from me, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Chair, just -- I'd hate for the last comment on the record to leave some uncertainty about the precedential value of Board acceptance of settlement agreements.

I think anyone looking at a settlement agreement needs to -- as Mr. Penny described, it's a complex relationship of items, and there is no straight line precedential value for any element of a settlement agreement.  There may be -- you know, the ultimate precedential value is good sense, the idea that it's a good outcome and that it works.

But from a technical point of view, I would think that anyone who relied upon the acceptance of a settlement agreement for any of the underlying regulatory instruments is stretching.  I just wanted to make sure that we're not going off on a bit of a tangent there.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. PENNY:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 1:55 p.m.
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